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FOREWORD

The mara mention of ths subjsct "Negro Masonry" samong Freemasons
brings forth more views and fables Ircm individuals than any other Masonic
subject - all out of proportion to the attention it snould receive.

In the very first place, the nams "Negr~ Masonry" is a misnomer. It
should be "Masonry Among Colorsd Men," for there is but one Fresmasonry.
A Magonic body is either Ragular (i.e. recognized); Irrsgular (not recog-
nizsd); or Clandestine (without authorization). The color of the skir of
the members 1s not a subject which enters into the picture. That it hag bew=
come a separate subject in the United Stetes is unique, because nownhers
alse in the world do we have such a situation. It is a subject which grew
because of some Masonically odd happenings and the propagation of soms or-
ronsous beliefs and falsencods, plus the segreszation of colorsd men them-
gelves from the organization which was started by white men. The advent of
this unique conlition was mads in 1773, when a white man, an ifinsrant sol-
dier, who had c1ce belonged to & military lodge, made fiftssn colored men
Freemasons, in or n2ar Boston, Massachusetts. After meeting togsther as a
self-constituted Lodge for sevsral years, they applied to the Frand Lodge.
of England (Moderns) for a Charter, which, afiter sevsral mcre years, iney
did raceive from that Grand Body - as African Lodge, MNo. 459. Under this
Charter they opurated as a regular Lodgs until 1813, when the Grand Lodgs-

£ England annulled the Charter for non-payment of monsey to the Charity

Fund. In the mean time scme other men of color, who had been "Mads" elsa-
where, had set up so-called Masonic Lodgss in Rnode Island, Pernsylvania,
and soms other places on the Eastern Seshcard - ell without the benafit of
Charters. Togesher they bacame known as "Masons of Color." Thass groups
wars totally clendestins and when the colored Lodge in Massachusetfa lost
ite Charter in 1813, it became irregular. Most of them kept operating,
nevertheless -~ the Massachusetts body, in 1827, declaring itself independent
of ANY Masonic esuthority, which they really were alraady. What happensd
from then on is outsids the pale of rsgular Freemasonry. That they chose-
0 carry on, calling themselves Freemasons, was not and is not without pre-
cedsnt, even amcng white Irregular and Clandestine Freemssons. However,
becauss soma Pcome lately” Masonic writers, in ths guise of historiana, in
and out of regular Freemasonry, who would not leavs wsll enough alone, be-
gen to writs and publish pamphlets, books and articles, pro and con, aboud
the subject, chaos has developed. None of thess were compiled after ade-
quate research to screen the statements appearing hither aand yon, so they
resk with errors of omission and commiasion. :

By far the bulk of the material came from a book titled "Official His-
tory of Freemasonry Among the Colored People of North Azerica,” written, so
the title saya, by William H. Grimshaw, & colored man living in the Dia-
trict of Columbia ~ published in 1503.

DOCUMENTED SUMMARY

In 1940 I entered the fisld of gatherinz thse printed refersnces about
"colored Masonry.! After putting out the materisl in book form, I revissd
the book in 1945 and again in 1549, Henry Wilson Coil, who compiled COIL'S3
MASONIC ENCYCLOPEZDIA, said of my work: "In the®Voorhis book, it is charged
that Grimshaw's data were frequently untrugtworthy,_which now sesms too ‘
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chariteble for errors that appear to be deliberately twisted facts, inveni-
ed maﬁerial, and 'reconstructed' photographs used to illustrate the work.
30 serious wers these errors that Voorhis very honorably felt obliged to
withdraw his 1949 book frcm sale. An abnegation all to seldom indulgad

by preceding authors under similar circumstances.”

When I realized that I had been "taken in" I arrenged to check civil
and Masonic records in Massachusetts, where all of the events cited in my
book from 1775 4o 1827 were said to have takea place, With ths help of a
qualified Masonic historian in Massachusetts, John M. Sherman, and another
Masonic Historian, Henry W. Coil, we put togethsr a M3i of 152 pages, plus
mors than 50 exhibits, documenting every facet of the subject. This took
over five years, during which time much nsw material came to light which
enabled us to verify or disprove the statements in the Grimshaw book, cor-
rect the many errors, and add further data. .

At this point it may be helpful to consider who Grimshaw was and the
circumatances tiat led to his writing the book we will discuss. William
Hénry Grimshaw w~as born in Virginia, August 4, 1847. His father was Robert
Tyler (white) a1d his mother, Julia Grimshaw (negro), whose family nsme hs
took. From Janunry 1, 1869 to June 3, 1889 he was employsd by the Navy De-
partment in various clerical jobs, and on December 28, 1895, he.went to
work as Doorkeeper,- Gallery Door, House of Reprssentatives, whers ha
atayed until October 1, 1897, when he was promoted to ?Library Attendant,
‘Doorkeepsr in the Main Reading Room," at the Library of Congress, which po=
8ition he held until the date of his retirement, August 20, 1924. Thus he
was situated in a key spot for obtaining informstion from books and other
publications during the period when hs must have been preparing his book,
which was dated 1903, But he was naver an Assistant Librarian in the Qon-
gressional Library, as he later testified in 1920, during a Maryland Court
caseo _}_-'/ ’ ‘ )

. /

He probably received his *Masonic® Degrees in Social Lodge, No. 1,
(D.C:) F. &:A: M., where he presided as Worshipful Master in 1874-1875.

In 1882 he was Deputy Grand Master of the (colored) Grand Lodga of the Dis-
trict of Columbia. In 1903 he was its Grand Librarian and in 1908, Grand
Master., Thia Grand Lodge claims to be the third oldest Colored Grand Lodge
in the Unlted States, preced only by ths Prince Hall Grand Lodge of Mazsa-
chusetts and the African Grand Lodge of Pennsylvania, 2/ On December 15,
1897, the Grand Master, Hamilton S. Smith, appointed a committee of several
distinguished "Oblored Masons" to make the necessary arrangementa for the
celobration of the 50th Anniversary of that Grand Lodge, and heading the
list was PGM Richard Hi Gleaves, who was to serve as Master of Céremonies.
The cslebration took place on March 27, 1898, in the Metropolitan African
Methodist Episcopal Church, and representatives from all Colored Masonic
Collateral Bodies in the District participated. Among the speakers were-the
nsmes of Richard H. Gleaves, Master of Ceremonies, and Thornton A. Jackson,
Sovereign Grand Commander of the Negro AASR, lL>th of whom, later, were to
sign the testimonial endorsement in thes front of Grimshaw's "Official. Hig-
tory,* etc., in 1903,

Since Grimshaw had begun his work in the Library of Congress only two
nmonths before the plans were begun for the 50th Anniversary celebration,
and therefors he had access to important data, it is not surprising that he
should have been asksd to prepare its history. In the Preface to his book,
*Official History, etc.” Grimshaw stated that his originsl intention had
been only to prepare a history of the Craft in the District of Columbia, but
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that "upon the earnest solicitation of many Masonlc friends, he has consented
to enlarge the work so that it will alao include the history of the Craft in
each State of the Union."™ In the second paragraph of this Preface, hez stated
that in preparing the book he had two principal objects in mind. "First, tnat
Masons and othsr readers might have a true official history of the Masonic
Fraternity among Colored Men in the United States. Heretofore thare has been
no publication to which we could conveniently refer concerning ths legit-
‘imacy of the order in America, conssqusantly rar detractors have taken adveio-
tage of this weakness and invariably tried to convince ths world that Negro
Masonry in America did not emanate from the same source as ¥hitse Masonry,
hence it .was of a spurious kind and could not be recognized.’ In other words,
G}imahaw‘a_main'purpoae was 1o _establish (or prove) its lezitimecy. And sec-
ondly, he claimed that he felt it his duty to write the book bscause he had
®in his posession many facts reletive to the edvancement of the colored pso-~
ple since the close of the Civil War, which might serve to enlighten the un-
informed, and also inspire the younger generation to a higher development."”
And finally, he states that he is "fully conscious of its (the work's) lit-
erary defects, Hut dares not sacrifice the truth of history even for literary
excellence,"

And so, having made an eloquent and grandiose proclamation in favor ofy
honesty and truth he boldly proceeds to twist the truth, to make false claims,
end submit forged documents and illustrations to prove his ends.

The majority of Grimshaw's readers turred out to be nuch less knowledge-
able of the facts of history than he, and they accepted his claims cheerful-
ly, because the book seemad to prove what they had long wanted to believe:
ebout Prince Hall and his Pollowers. COnly cne critic emong his contemporariee
spoke out (as fur as. we know) and that was whers the movement had 1ts bagin-

‘ning, in Boston. It was a black man, Frederick 8: Monroe; the Grand Mastsr
of the Prince Hall Grand Lodge, who was well enough educated and knew enough
hiastory to see through socme of Grimshaw's phoney claims. In his reports on
®Fraternal Correspondence” in the Proceedings of the Prince Hall Grand Lodge
Por 1905 and 1907 he pointed out some of Grimshaw's most glaring errors, and
wrote that "We know his sketch of Masonry in Massachusetts to be full.of
errors and misstatements, . . It is not a book to be placed in the
hands of any uninformed Mason. . . . ¥e can readily foresee that the Com-
mittee on Foreign Correspondence will have all they cen do for the next two
or three generations in extirpating the errora.” How true these-atatsmonts

have proved to be.

In the back part of his book, (peges 370-37L), Grimshaw inserted a table
titled "™on Who Assisted Me," and it is a pignificant fact that he liata no
one there from Massachusetts, although more space ia given in the bock to
Massachusetts than to any other states (41 pages, or 18% of the total pages
on the various jurisdictions). No wonder that Monroe was miffed if he was
not comsulted, and then found out that the Massachusetts part was full of
errors and fabrications! The Grimshaw book, with its misinformation and lies,
has done more harm to the subject than any other work about Colored Masonry
sver printed - both from the standpoint of the colored men and from the side-
of Regular Freemasonry. 'Regular Freemasonry should ignore the whole matter.
It is nothing but a condition of Irregularity and Clandestinism, and is out-
side tha pale of OUR Fraternity. The main subject can be considered, however,
end I herewith give a very digested run-down of 1it. ‘Each statement that fol-
lows can be documented. I hope that it is not too short or leaves to0 many gaps
to be filled in, but with the data now available, this can and should be dons.
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CONDENSED HISTORY.

The earliest public reference thus far discovered dealing with Colored
Mén in Freemasonry in America was in Dreper & Folsom's Boston newspaper, The
Independent Chronicle, Boston, December 30, 1782, No. 243, pege 3. This arti-
cle described a procession of Colored Masons who marched in Masonic regalis
from the house of a Brother Glapion in State Street to the house of Prince
Hall in Yater Street. Several other short references to the Ledge appeared
in the newspapei thersafter, but nothing was published regerding its origin
until 1795, when Dr. Jeremy Belknap, foundsr of the Massachusetts Historical
Society, conducted a survey to collect informstion on the history of slavery
in Massachusetts. In an interview with Prince Hall,. whom he rofers 1o as ‘
"one of my informants, . . . . a very intelligent black man, aged fifty-sev-
en years," Belkaap writes, "He is the Grand Master of a Lodge of free masons,
composed wholly of Blacks, and distinguished by the neme of 'African Lodge'.
It was begin in 1775, while this town was garrisoned by British troops; scme
of whom held a lodge and initiated a number of Negroes." This claim, met
down in writing twenty years after the event was said to have taken placs,
is not supportei by any documented evidence, and can be clazaed only as hear-
say. The records of the military lodge are not now extant, having been lost
when they were :aptured by the French a few years later. In 1775, Balknap
was living in Duver, New Hempshire, whers he served as minister of the church.
from 1767 to 1787, and not being a Mason, he .could not have besn present as
& witness anywar. Furthermore, any implication that the initiations wers- le-
gitimate 1s denied by the reply of another respondent to the survey, the Rev.
John Eliot, a Mason and Grand Chaplain of the Massachusetts Grand Lodge, who

responded, in part, as follows:

"And what is still more rémarkable, the White and Black Masonsa
do not sit together in their lodges -~ The African Lodge of Boa-
ton, tho poerassing a charter from England, signed by the Earl
of Effingham, and countersigned by the Duks of Cumberland, mest
by themselves,-- and white Masons, not more skilled in Geomsetry
than their black brethren, will not acknowledge them. The rea-
son given is that the Blacks were made clandestinely, in the
first place, which being lmown (by the English authorities)
would have prevented them from receiving a charter.”

It was not until December 27, 1865, that the Colored Masons put forth
the claim that Prince Hall and his fourteen sssociates were initisted on
March 6, 1775, in an Irish Army Lodge in Boston. This statement was made
by Lewis Haydsn, an eloquent Negro orator, who was the Grand Master of the-
Prince Hall Grand Lodge frem 1865 to 1870. Previocusly, in 1858, a prede-
cessor as Grand Master, John V. DeGrass, M.D., had deliversd an address in
which he claimed that Prince Hall alone had been initiated in 1775, and
that a ysar later, the Lodge had been organized under a dispensation from
this B¥itish (sic) traveling lodge. But there are no records extant to
support either of these claima, C

The first actual record of Freemasonry being practised by colored
men in America waa found on a sheet of paper in the archives of what was
African Lodge, No. 459, E.C., in Boston, Massachusetts. When these early
records were photographed on microfilm, in 1950, this sheet appeared as
freme No. 40, under the suh-title of "Records of Africen Lodge, No. 1,
Minutes and Accounts, 1770-1786, Boston." The dociment io dated March 6th,
177_ (the last digit for the year being illegible 3/) and has the heading
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"By Yarster Batt wosse made these brothers," under which are listed fifteen
names. At the foot of the pave are some figures which indicate tnat four-
teen men were mede "Marsters" (sic), three Crafts end thirteen "printices".
These figures ere confirmed by repetition on erother sheet (freme 41),
which was the revort of a committee, apparently to audit the accounts, and
dated October 5, 1785. It shows a total expense incurred of 45% Guineas,
which was evidertly the emount that had been paid to John Batt for his ser-
vices. A third shest, in tabular form, having three columns, (frame No.l6),
headsd "Zntred a printices, Fellow Crafts anx Marsters,” is clearly hessaded,
" MBogion, March 6, 1778, - ¥aid by The Worthey and amebell - Grand.%aster,
John Batt," but -this evidently covers the period from March 6, 1778 to May
4, 17382, and we kmow thai John Batt could not have besn present at all the

succesaive dates given, as we will show below.

It has been claimed that John Batt was the Master of a military lodge
stationed in Boston before the Revolutionary War, and that the degrees were-
conferred on the Negroes by this lodge on March 6, 1775. iHowever, the evi- -
dence is conclusive that it could not have hippened in 1775, despits the
atatement of Dr. Jeremy Belknap, who had only hearsay as his basis. The old
records of African Lodge maks no reference to any lodge, and only to an in-
dividual, John Batt. But who was John Batt, :nd did he have any connection
with a B*itiah Amy ‘Lodge? A diligent search of the records of the Grand
Lodges of England and Ireland has disclosed -the fact that thsre was a John
Batu ragistered in Irish Lodge, No. 441, whirh was attached to tho British
58th Regiment, South 3taffordshirs Reclment, on the 2nd -of May, 1771. The
records show that this rogiment was in Boston in 1774; Boston, at Bunker &ill,

1775; during 1776, at Halifax, New York, Brocklyn, Long Island, Rhods Island,
Fort Washington, Fort Lee and New York; thereafter, in 1777, at Nova Scotia,
Philadelphia, Newport; in 1778, at Newport a&d New Vork' in 1781-2 at New
York; and 1783, creat Britain.

86, if the fifteen colored men referred to who were initiated on March
6th, 1778, as the record shows, by John Batt, it could not have been dons in
Irish Lodge, No. 441, as the 38th Regiment of Foot was then in Newport, Ruode
Island or in New York, and it would have been impossible for the Lodgs to
have met in Boston at that time, But what ablut John Batt? Could he havee
been in Boaston, as an individual, apart from Irish Lodge No. 4417 The evi-~
dence indicates that he could have been, snd was, as we will now demonstrate.

An examination of the old Muster Rolls of the 38th Regiment, for the pe-
riod in question, has been made for us by an English Correspondent £, 47, who
visited the Public Racord Office, where they are now kept on behalf of the
Yar Office. (London, England). Private John Batt was serving in Major Alex-
ander Fraser's Company of the 38th, and his nams appears without ccmment in
all the available Rolls signed at Antigua between 25.12.1759 and 23.2. 1765
They were prepared every other month at that timos

For ths s~cond period for which Muster Polls exist, the Rolls cover
six-montns periods. Five Muster Rolls were examined, starting with 7th May,
1774, when the Regiment came on the British Establishment in North America,
and covering up to the time when Batt was dischargedfrom service at Staten
Island, New York, 23 Feb. 1777. On ths Roll covaring the period from 25 De-
cember, 1774, to 24th June, 1775, Batt is shown as Sgt., but reduced to pri-
vate on 24th June. (following the Battle of Bunksr Hill), but no explanation
is given for thia nor later for his dischargs. It cannot be assumed that it
was for disciplinary reasons, as other men were similarly treated.
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After General Howe had routed ‘ashington at the battle of Fort Wash-
inzton (November, 1776), he went into winter quarters in Hew York instea
of trying to pursus Wasnington's troops, which gave Hashirgton the oppor-
tunity to reorganize his forces. Pernaps Batt, end tne others who were dis-
charged, wers dropped bacausa of age. Batt had besn with the Regiment for
18 years. It is unlikely that Batt received any penaion or other form of
remunsration for his support, so we should not be surprised if ws find him
goeldnz employment of some kind. : : : '

After his discharge from the Briiish Amy at Staten Island, 23 Febru-
ary, 1777, we do not know how John Batt occupied himsel® until about ths
end of the year, when he ssems to have enlisted for service as & marins on
the Connscticut State Man-of-War "Oliver Cromwell,” scmetime during the
month of December. In "A list of what is paid the officers and crew of ths
ship 'Oliver Crcmwell' to the 16th March, 1778.% thers is given the hame
of a John Batt "Marien' (Marine) and stated thit hs:"Run.” So he was not
paid. Probably enlisted after 10 December 177¢, and poasibly between 10.
and 20 January 1778 (this is all speculative). _[

In the lists of "Massachusetts Soldisrs ard Sajilors of the Amsrican

‘Revolution,® (volume II, page 938), there are two names shown which ars so
gimilar that they may have been one and the same man. (John Batt. of Fal~
mouth, enlisted for the town of Yestminister, Dscember 26, 1777 - and John
Butt, reportad a transient, enlisted for the tcwn of Ipswich, February 24,
1778). During the Revolution, it has been noted that although it was 1ll-
~ legal, some towns rasorted to enlisting non-residents in ordsr to f£ill their
quotas, for which ths voluntesrs raceived a bounty, and sometimea it was pos-
sible for a men 4o enlist more than oncs (under different towns) in order to
collect duplicate bounty monsy. John Batt appesars to have been ora who ac-
camplished this by enlisting for both ths town of Westminister and the town

of Ipswich. , ,

In tha records of ths War Department, in ths National Archives. and Rec-
ords Servics, Washington, D.C., five compiled military service records for
John Batt have been found. One of these shows that he enlisted February 20,
1773, placs of residencs, Massachusetts; Suffolk County, town of Boston, and
that he served as a Sergsant in Col. David Henley's Regiment. The rolls exiat
containing John Batt's signaturs. The record also shows that an Adjutant
Dunksrley recelivsed 12- for enlisting two men, John Patten & John Batt. :The -
fact that Batt was immediately given thse rank of Sergeant shows that his pre-
vious military service in the British Army was recognized. The record ends
with the statement that he was "Deserted" on June 10, 1773. A careful search
of all public and military avallable has failed to turn up any further infor-
nation on John Batt. After having deserted he seems to have disanpearad com-
pletely, without le leavinz a trace behind. The African Lodge records do not
mention his name again either after the original date of the Lnltiation

on Hareh 6, l778.k

T6 continue with our exemination of the old record showing that fiftesn
Colored men received Masonic degrees on March 6, 1778,  from one John Batt,
which was confirmed by & second record (see page 4, last paragraph), the
record shows that seven of those "initiated" werse “carfted“ on the same date,
and two (Prince Hall and Thomas Sesunderson) were mades "Masters." This is a-

. remarkable performance for ons man in ons day. What is probable is that hs -
picksd up a Masonic expose' and was able to convince these Colored men that
he was not only a Freemason, but a Grand Master. (In those days this term was
commonly used as a title for the presiding Master of a Lodgs). Prichard's
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MASONRY DISSECTED, published first in 1730, had already run into seversal
sditions, and there were several other expose's in circulation by 1773,
another being JACHIN AND BOAZ, then in its fourth edition, having been

first published in 1762. In any event, said John Batt was without any au-
‘thority, even if he had been a Past Master, to confer (SLngle-handed no less)

Masonic degrees on anyone.

None of the other Negroes than Prince Hall and Thomas Saunderson, re-
ceived the seccnd and third degrees on this iate, mccording to the record.
During the following Mey and June the seven who were-'carfted” beceme "Mas-
ters." Then, before the charter wnich they requested had arrived, forty-six
were edmitted to the "Lodge". Thus they had a total of fifty-six memhers be-
fore they hed eny authority; in e body which was clandastine. They atartad
calling themselves African Lodge, No. 1 at some unspecified date,

There is little use in recording here the details concerning the re-
quest for, and the granting and securing of a Charter from the Grand Lodgs-
of England, dated September 29, 1784. It came as a resuli of a letter to
a Williem Moody (whose identity has never been ascertained by the Grand
Lodge of England) written on Juns 30, 1784. In the letter, Prince Hall, sign-
ing as "Master of African Lodgs, No. 1," stated that the Lodge had "besn
founded almost this eight years and has no warrsnt yet but only a Parmset
from Grand Master Row (John Rowe Provincial Grand Master in Boston) to walk
on St. John's Day and bury our dead in form." This would bring the formatioa
date back to 1776 - but the Lodge records say that the first meeting was held
‘on March 6, 1778. Of course they could have met before that date to discuss
the formatlon of a Lodge, which prompted Prince Hall, in 1784, to say that
the Lodge was "founded" eight years before. The Gharter arrived in Boston oa
April 29, 1787, the delay being caused by the loss of the warrant fee, which
had to bs sent a secmd time. The Grand Lodge of ngl&nd’s record of the re-
caipt of the fae of 4 pounds, 4 shillings, is dated April 4, 1787. There is
nothing in the Lodge records to indicate that the Lodge vas ever Constituted
in Due Form, or that Prince Hall was ever properly qualified or installed a3

Master of the Lodge.

THe so-called details about Prince Hall, found in Grimshaw's book, and
dreamed up by him or Gleaves, and copied, with some additiona by sibsequent -
writers, are without any foundation whatever.. There has never been found
any record of Prince Hall being, as stated in the book, born in Barbadces,
¥Yeat Indies, on September 12, 1748. In fact, no record has been diacovered
~of his birth date or place. In several petitions addresssed to the General
Court, and other govermental or judicial bodies, it was found that Prince .
Hall and his associates always claimed that they were "Africans.” 8o he was’
probably born in Africa, and sold into slavery. On August 31, 1807, Prince
Hall signed a deposition, which was recorded in the Suffolk County Registry
of Deeds, that he wds a leather-dresser and laborsr, aged about seventy years,
which would have made him born in 1757. That hé was a slave is attested to
by a certificate of Manumission signed by William Hall on April 9, 1770, tc-
gether with three other members of the Hall family, giving Prince Hall his
freedom. 6/ The document states that he had lived with the Hall family for
twenty-one years. He also stated in his Deposition of August 13, 1807 that
in November 1762 he was received in full communion in the Congregational
Church on School Street, Boston, of which Andrew Croswell was the minister.
In all six Boston newspapers which carried his death notice in December 1807
he waa reported to have been seventy-two ysars old. This is two years dif-
ferent from his own statement, where he said ®about seventy,? and would make
him born in 1735. Crimshaw says he arrived in Boston in 1765. As noted above,
hs was in Boston at least as early as 1749, serving the Hall family, whose-
name he adopted,
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The Revolutionary Yar record cited by Grimshaw is also wrong. There
were three Prince Halls who served in the Revolutlon,~ one in Dartmouth of .
Wilbore's Company; one in Medford in Thatcher's Regiment in 1778, who was
thirty years old and could not have been our Boston Prince Hall who was
- then forty-one years old; and & third who also lived in Medford, enlisted
for the duration of the war on April 7, 1777, served at Velley Forge, and
died in the service; December 18, 1778. We have the ccmplete military rec-
ords of these three Prince Halls, and none of their sBignatures match that
of Prince Halyi of BOston, the leatherdresser. In. April 1777, our Prince-
Hall was still engaged in the leesther business for we have & copy of a.re-.
ceipt that he signed for the sale of drum heads to Col. Crafts Regiment.
The original is kept in the State Archives.

Grimshaw's speculation that Prince Hall was the son of mixsd parenta:
(one white  and one black) is silly, as no record of his birth can be fourd
‘anywhere. One thing is certain. As he was not born of free parents he could
not have worked his way on a passage from Barbadoes to the Colonies at tia
age of seventeen, as Grimshaw claimed. ‘Hé- was thirty years old in 1765

anyway.

Grimshaw says Prince Hall was a Minister in the Methodist Church. Bubt
HAall testified that he was a member of the Congregaticnal Church. Thers is
no record that he was ever a Minister. This is another fable of Grimshaw's.
Actually, Prince Hall did deliver two Mesonic Charges to the African Lodg>
on 9t. John's Day, June 24th, one in 1792 and one in 1796, which some wri-
ters may have considered as sermons. Alsc, his letlter book contains a ser-
mon delivered to the Lodge on June 24th, 1789, by a Negro preacher, John
Marrant, who was living with him at that time and was Lodge Uhaplain.

Prince Hall was married five times, according to the official city
records of Boston Marriages, as follows:
1 - November 2, 1763 - Sarah Richie
2 - August 22, 1770 Florah Gibbs
3 -~ August 14, 1783 Affee Moody
4 - June 28, 1798 -~ Nabby Ayrault
5 - June 28, 1804 . = 2Zilpha Johnson

Thers is a gravestons in the Copp's Hill Burying Ground in Boston
which has the following inscription: "Hére liea ye Body of Sarah Ritchary;
wife of Prince Hall, died Feby the 26th, 1769, aged 24 years." This stone
was no doubt erected by the Richie family in memory of a faithful servent.
On the back of this stone is an inscription which appears to have been ad-
ded many years later, which reads: "Heére lies the Body of Prince Hall,
First Grand Master of the Colored Grand Lodge of Masons in Mass., Died Dec.
~ 7, 1807." However, thers is no record in the files of ‘the Boston Cemetery
Department to substantiate it. Ia fact, the .City of Boston does not have
any records extant to show where the remains of Prince Hall may have been
interred. No -ecords have been found either, which are adequate to identi-
£y the spots where Prince Hall'ls other four wives were buried. A book pub-
lished in 1878 contalning a list of the inscriptions on the gravestones in
the Copp's Hill Burying Ground, by W. Hi Whitmore, does not contain the
Prince Hall inscription either, although it does contain that for Sarah
iRitchery”. The style of the cutting and the emount of weathering that
evidently took place before the Prince Hall inscription was added are in-
dicationa that it was probably done many years after Prince Hall's death,
end probably after Wnitmore wrote his book of 1878. Furthermore; the date
given for his death is incorrect. Five Boston newspapers gave accounts of
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his death as on December 4th, 18C7, but the cutter seems to have used ths
date when it wes reported in ihe newspaper. Although the papers. did mention
Prince Hall as Master of the African Lodge, and that a Masonic funeral cers-
mony was held, they they do not give any clue as to where the body was interred.

The administratrix of Prince Hall's estate, valued at $47.22, was his
widow, Sylvie Hall (Zilpha or Zilvooy). She was thirteen years younger than
her husband, an’ died in Boston, December 3, 1836, aged 88 years. Is it ret-. .
sonable to suppose that she would have requested that her husband's remains -
be buried in the grave of a former wife, who had died almost forty years pre-
viocusly, when he had been marrised four times since then.

There was another Boston Négro nsmed Primus Hall, a soapboiler by trads,
who was sometimes confused with Prince Hall by writers bécause of the sim-
ilarity in spelling of the names.-Primus claimed to be the son of Prince Hall-
by & marriage pre-dating that with Sarah Richie, which 1s not found in the
records. He testified, when applying for a pension as & Revolutionary War
Veteran, that his father was Prince Hall and his mother one Delia Walker, a
Negro servant of Davenport Walksr, of Boston. The tax records show that Pri-
mus lived with his father for several years during the 1780s, and they refes
to him as "son of Prince Hall."7/ He was born in 1756 and died in 1842,

There is no record that ha was ever a member of the-Africaa Lodge, Like- his
father, he worked for the improvement of his race, in particular for the edu-

cation of Negro children.

There are no minutes of African Lodge, No. 459, extant bstween December -

;1788 snd December 1807, a strange situation during the nineteea years which.
niad when Prince-Hall's services terminated with his death. No mimites of

.fhe Lodge-exist, and they seem to have vanished, if ever made. At the elec-
tion in December 1807, Nero Prince waa elected Master, but neither he nor any
one else had.a word to say about the departed leader whom they had kncwn for
thirty years. Minutes and other records were resumed in December 1807. The
microfilm has four parts each of which duplicates or repeats parts of the
rest of the record up to 1846, and in some aases errors were made, as shown

in the following example.

Section of Years
Microfilm Included
E 1809-1816
. 4 1807-1826
.G 1807-1846
H - 1816-1821

In freme 85 of Section E; the following entry was made: "Boston,’ Novembar 7,
1807, Prince Hall, Grand Master, Deceased.” (underlining is mina)

How could they have been so careless? There can be no doubt that the rsal
date of Prince Hall's death was December 4, 1807, since that date is stated’
inthe death notices of six different Boston nawspapsrs. The official death
records for the town of Boston were not being carefully kspt at that time,
and the newspaper reports are ths only avallable gource.

The first meeting of the Lodge reportsd in the minutae after the death of
Prince Hall was on Decembar 28, 1807, at which time ten new officers were in-
stalled. It apvears that an election must have been held prior to this date,
but there is no record of it. The four principal officers were listed as
Nero Prince, Grand Master; Jamea Nickson (Nickerson), S. Warden; James Ebnnie,
J. Warden; John Shorter, Secretary. No Treasurer was mentioned.
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Grimshaw stated that Prince Hall was a Provincial Grand Master, but the
Lodge records do not say 80 end the Grend Lodge of England says that he was
never a Provincisl Grand Master. Furthermore, again according to Grimshew, hsa
is supposed to have created lodges in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Providence,
Rhode Island. Thkis-is not so. Research covering the history of Colored Lodges
in these places indicates that Prince Hall had nothlnv to do with their ersction.

The secind Master of African Lodge, No. 459, was Nero Prince, who cams to _
Boston from New .:empshire about 1799, whers Lo was employed as a black servsat
to Edward Tuckerman, a bread baker. The accounts of African Lodge show that he

was raised a Master Mason on August 20, 1799. Grimshew claimed that he was & - . .-

Russian Jew, which is false, and wholly imaginsary. (What Jewish parent would
name a boy"Nero"-a Roman Emperor? Many Negroes did neme their boys after Romans,
like Prince, Nero, Cato, ete., however) The name of Nero Prince is first list-.
ed in the Boston Assessors Taking Books (Tax List) for the year 1800, where he
is identified as a black servant of Edward Tuckerman, a bread-baksr. The Bus-
ton Marriage Records also show Néro Prince as a Negro who married one Nabby
Bradish of "Kenniker" (Henniker, N.H.), also a Black, on August 28, 1803. Hs
went to Gloucester in 1810, became a sailor and made at least two trips to
Russia with Captain Thomas Stanwood of that town. In 1812, he was employed it
the Court of Russia by one Prince Putrossof, and afterwards on the household
staff of the Emperor Alexander, where he served until his death, about 1833,
“except for a leave of absence in 1824, when he returned to Boston on a visit,
snd married Nancy Gardner of Gloucester, who returned to Russia with him. In
1833, she returned to Boston, on account of her hsalth, and he had planned to
follow within two years, but died soon after Nancy had departed.8/

Although Prince Hall ‘was often referrad to as Grand Mesté¥ of the Afri-
can Lodge, and Nero Prince, his successor, used the same title in 1808, when
he was chosen to preside over the Lodge, the other Masters of the Lodge that
followed, up to 1827, used only the designation.of "Master," and thers is no-
thing in the records to indicate that African Lodge had bacome a Grand Lodge.
The following letter, sent to the Grand Lodge of England in 1824, was found
in the archives at London about 1869, and a copy sent to Grand Master William
Sewell Gardner, who was seeking evidence regarding the history of the Africen
Lodge in connection with a petition that had been presented to Grand Lodge by
a group of Colored men headed by Lewis Hayden, who claimed to be Masons. This
letter indicates that in 1824 the officers of African Lodge believed that they
were still working under the authority of the Grand Lodge of England, and that
they were petitioning for an extension of their powers, to permit them to con-
fer additional degrees.

To the Right Worshipful, The Grand Mestsr, Wardens, and Members of .
the Grand Lodge of Enzland

We your Petitioners, Sampson H. Moody, Poter Howard, Abraham 0C Der~
endemed, John I. Hilton, James Jackson, Zadock Lew, Samuel Gi ‘
Gardner, Richard Potter, Lewis Walker, and other Companions Who

have been regularly Exalted to the Sublime Degree of Royal Arch
Masons, SEND GREETING:

Our worthy and well beloved Brethren Prince Hall, Boston Smith, Thomas
Sanderson, and several Brethren having obtained a Warrant from your Hon-
oursble Body, on September 29, 1784 A.D., A.L. 5784, when, under the
Govermment of Thomas Howard, Earl of Effinghem, Lord Howard, &c.,&c.,
&c., acting Grand Master Under the authority of His Royal Highness Henry
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Frederick, Duke of Cumberland, Grand Master of the Most Ancient end
Honoureble Society of Free and Accepted Masons. I S
This Warrent allowing us to confer but the three Dsgrees, and Finding
it injurious for the benefit of our Body by having no legal authority to confer
the other four degrees. And understending that the .seven dezrees is given. B
under the Warrant from the Grand Lodge, we, therefore, humbly solicit the
Renual of our Charter to ourtherise us Legally to confer the same, as we are
now getting in a flourishing condition, It is with regret we communicate to-
you that,from the Decease of our Well Beloved Brethren wno obtain'd the -
Warrant we have not been able for several years to.transmit Monies and
hold a regular Communication; but, &s we are now permanently Established
to work conformeble to our Warrant and Book of Constitutions. We will
pend the monies ms far as circumstances will admit, together with the money,
for a new Warrant, Should your Honourable Body think us worthy to receive
the sams. We remain, Right Worshipful and Most VWorshipful Bretheren.

¥With all Due Respect, Yours fraternally,
(Slgned) } SAMSON H. MOO“Y W.M.

PETER HOWARD, S W._
C’ At DSRA-NDALIE Jl lf.

Given under our hands at Boston, in the yesar of our Lord 1824 ,January

5th (5824) .
WILLIAM J. CHAMPNEY, Secretarz.

I% . seems rather obvious that if Prince Hall had actually been &- Prov;nc1&l-»~
Grand Master, and a Grand Lodge organized in 1791, as Grimshew claimed, that
Pact would have been known, not only t6 his successors as Master and Wardens
og the Lodge, but also to the officials of the Grand Lodge of England, who
“hpve emphaticaelly denied it. And so that cleim by Grlmahaw was just another

- case of pure ‘fiction. -

When the Grand Lodge of England renumbered their Iodges in 1792, Nimber
459 beceme Number 370. ' African Lodge minutes show no reference to the changed
number. It seems that they didn't even know about it. In~1815, at the Union
of the two Grand Lodges of England, African Lodge No. 370 wes "struck off ths
list of active lodges. This was done, in this case, because of the failure of
African Lodge to contribute to the Charity Fund of the Grand Lodge for six-
teen years, as well es its failure to make regular returns. The only ranit~
. tances ever made to this fund of the Grand Lodge of England were:

November- 25, 1789 2L-28-11
April 18, 1792 1-1.-0
November 27, 1793 1 -5 ~6
November 22, 1797 1-5-0

In addition to the fifty-six known members which were "created befors the
Lodge received its Charter, we find that from 1813, when the Lodge was struck
off by tne Grand Lodge of England, to 1827, when John T. Hilton declared the
independence of the Lodge, that fifty-seven additional Colored men were given
. "degrees" which w.ade a hundred end thirteen mcmbers made clandestinely. Up wo
1827,n0 reference is made of a Grand Lodge among Colored men in Boston, although
Grimshaw claimed in 1903 that such a Grand Lodge had been formed ln 1791.
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We have exemined the minutes of the Lodge from December 28, 1807 to~
June 24, 1828,- the last fourteen years being under irregular operation.(They
have been copied on microfilm). There were 330 meetings held, but little was
~done until the advent of John T, Hilton, whose Masonic dates -in the Lodge are:

E.A. Ibc. 2, 1822

F.C. Jan.13, 1823

M.M, Feb.lo, 1823

J ¥, Dec.27, 1824

S.¥W. June 22, 1825

W.M, May 29, 1826 (1830, then 1859 to 1845)
GiM. 1847-1850

Died March 4, 1864

John Telemachus Hilton, from almost his entrance into the Lodge in”1822
‘until his depth in 1864, was the controlllng "operator” of "Colored Masonry
in Massachusetts.

A Declaration, written by Hilton, bearing the date of Juns 18, 1827, wea

punlished in THE BOSTON ADVERTISER of June 26, 1827, headed, "African Lodge-

No. 459" in which the Lodge did "positively declare ourselves free and inde-
pendent of any Lodge from this day." Some years later a beautifully handwrltten
instrument on parchment 18 x 22 inches in size (which is still preserved)

and having the same date was exhibited. It was signed by John T. Hilton,
"Walker Lewis end Thomas Dalton, Past Masters. Since Lewis did not become Mas,er
until 1829 and Dalton in 1831 it could not have been prepared before 1831,
unless these men assumedthe right to that title after receiving the Mirtual
Past Master" degree in some Royal Arch Chapter. This certificate declared th»
Lodge free from its original charter and created "instead thereof this Chartar
vnder the head and 4itle of African Grand Lodze No. 1, +to heve and exercise
the same power of other Grand Lodges, granting Warrants and Charters." Actual- .
ly the body continued to call iteelf by its original mumber - 459 - which it
had not actuslly posessed for thirty-five years.

The next significant move by Hilton was the calling of a Oonvention to
meet in Boastom on June 24, 1847. It was attended by two putative Pernsylvania
Grand Lodges of Colored men and scme members from Lodges in New York and Rhode
Island. From this meeting there resulted the formation of a National Grand
‘Lodge, later termed the "Compact Grand Lodge." It led to all sorts of incrim-
inations and remonstrances, and, as time went on, Lodge revolts and withdraw-
als which plagued "Colored Masonry." Hilton was the National Grand Master from
the start through 1850. However, his ability and Massachusetts' stature were
not sufficient to guide the new body on a safe course., It grew so weak that
many writers have said it "folded up" in 1877, but that is not true for it still
exists in twenty-seven states where they have State Grand Lodges. Even in Massa~
chusetts, Hilton's own Grand Lodge, to which he had given the name Prince Hall
Grand Lodge, withdrew from the National Compact Grand Lodge. :

At this point let us summarize (in simple terms) the salient pointa re-
lating to the whole subject.

1 - Some Pifteen colored men were "initiated" at some unimown place by a Brit- -
ish Military turncoat, without any Masonic authority whatever, nor positive
evidence that he was even a Freemason.

2 - Thata total of fifty-eix colored men were taken into a so-called Lodgé
' Pormed by these men before they obtained a Charter from the Grand Lodgs
of England in 1787 for African Lodgo No. 459,
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% - Trst there is no evidence thet the officers of the Lodge were properly in-
setalled in 1787 when the Lodge was organized under the Charter.

L, - That the Lodge was renumbered 370 in 1792, which they never noted in their
minutes, probably not even lknowing aboui it. :

5 - That the Lodge was "struck" from the list of Lodges of the Grand Lodge of
' England in 1813 because they had not paid any dues to the Grand Charity
Fund since 1747, sixteen years earlier, an’ only three times previously.

6 — That they continued to work from 18613 to 1827 with e Charter that had beea -
annulled, during which time they added fifty-six moYe menbars — all during
a period without Masonic authority. ,

7 - That in 1827 they declared themselvea 1ndapendant and then.constituted
themsslves into a Grand Lodge; thus severing the last vestige of any
Masonic authority.

8 - That in 1847 a national body was created called the Most Worshiopful
Kational Grand Lodse of Fres and Accspted Ancient York Masons for the
United States of Worth America (later referred to as the National Compact
Grand Lodge), which caused chaos but has continued to this date.

9 - That in 1848 the Massachusetts State Colored Grand Lodge (subordinate to
the National Grand Lodge) adopted the title Prince Hall Grand Lodgs of
. Magsachusetts. Except for Kansas, no other colored Grand Lodge adopted
the name Prince Hall in its title before 1903.

10 - That thers are no colored Grand Lodgzes which can show derivation from
Africen Lodge No. 459, and therefore, all colored Lodges or Grand Lodges
are now clandestins.

!

EPILOG

To show how far afield Grimshaw went in trying to glemorize things -

On page 97 of his book he shows a photograph titled "Nero Prince." It is

actually an 1805 picture of Thomas Smith Webb, the celebrated Masonic rit-

ualist, now in the posession of St. Joan's Commandery of Knights Templar in

Providence, Rhode Islend (see Biography of Thomas Smith Webb by Herbert T.Ley-
~ land, published by Ohio Chapter of Research in 1965). Not only this, but on

page 68 of the book by Grimshaw is another picture claimed to be of Prince

Hell. It is really a retouched, well-lnown, portrait of George Washington.

Henry Wilson Coil wrote the following about Prince Hall: "Over a long lifs
he was a respectable and responsible citizen, but the effort to glorify him as
e Minister, a Statesman, and a war hero or paragon of any kind were as unavail-
ing as they weras unnecessary. He 1is to classed as a conservative, showing gool
judgment and restraint in all his activities. His memory will not suffer from .
being de-glamorized, though the reputations of some authors may be. The extreme
claims made for the Negro organizatlon at Boston and elsewhere did not originate
with Prince Hall, but in most instances long after his death."

Even after death Prince Hall auffered from misfapresentation, for the date
on the tombstone in Copp's Hill Burying Ground is the date of his interment,
‘three days after his demise.
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There are some reasons why this brochure is not
being printed. ‘

1 - It is the first record of a research on the
subject which was ever made IN Massachusetts, where
Colored Men first became Fraemasons.

~ - It is to correct the erroisous materisl printed-

in my book on the subject - now out of print, but nevertheless.
still found in libraries.

3 - And, at this point to show that I have no scruples,
I record that I have been a member of two Lodges of Colored
men: Alpha No. 116, in New Jersey and Kumen No. 133, in Nigsr,
Africa, under the G.L.N.F. - the former Honorary and the -
lattsr, Charter.

4 - And, to be happy in stating that the data in this
brochure is purely historical and has nothing to do with
Freemasons of color in non-recognized bodies. I have freely
attended untiled bodies and presented historical talks on
Masonic subjects. In three such instences I was presented
with tokens of respect (medsls and en engraved plate).

H. V. B V.

Referencas

1/ - "The Most Worshipful United Grand Lodge of F&AM of Maryland

vs’
Wa. F. Green, G.M. of the Free & Accepted York Masons, et al.

Decided Junse 17, 1920 - Plaintiff not entitled to injunction since
‘ evidence was conflicting.

Source: Reﬁdrt’of Cases Argued and Adjudged in the Court of Appealé"

of Maryland - Herbert F. Tiffany, State Reporter, vol.l36:
Including cases in October Term, 1919 and January and April 1920.

The claim that the Prince Hall Grand Lodge of Massachusetta pre-dates
ths African Grand Lodge of Pennsylvania is based upon tradition and
cannot be documented. In fact, the Lodge racords show that in Phila-
delphia, on December 26, 1815, a Lodge of Colored Men constituted
themselves (clendestinely) into a Grand Lodge, under the title o?

"Phe First Independent African Grand Lodge:of North America." In Bos~-
ton, the African Lodge, No. 459, founded by Prince Hall, had contin-
ued to me=t ap a Lodge after his desth 1its Charter had been annulled,
and finding itself unable to get the Grand Lodge of England to restore
the Charter, declared itself Independent in 1827, and assumed the name
of "African Grend Lodge, No. 459, of Boston. (June 18, 1827) (also

clandestinely).

Some have claimed that this record originally gave the year 1775, but

if so, why would another record show 17787 If the Negroes had been init-

iated in 1775, there would certainly bs no reason for them to be initia-

ted again in 1778. EXcept for the date of March 6, 1778, when the degrees
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were conferred, the earliest date on record when Lodge businsss was
conducted was September &; 1778, which was a receipt for the hire -
of a plece for the Lodge to meet. Furthermore, the original document,
photographed as freme No, 16, must now be considered worthless, as a

reliable Masonic Researcn Historian, who examined in-in 1955, report— """

ed that a crude figure "5" had been scrawled in that place, whereas
the film, made in 1930, snowad the number to be illegible.

Major Frederick H. Smyth

Record of Service of Connecticut Men in the (1) War of the Revolu-
tion. p.9597. ' o

Notarial Papers of Ezékiel Price (Boston Athenﬁéumlbibtafj)-
Assessors' Taking Books (City of Boston, Assessor's Office)

See: A Narrative of the Life and Travels of Mrs. Nancy Prince,
written by herself, Boston, Published by the author, 1853,




